FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/20/2018 3:16 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95991-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 76326-1-I)

FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK OF SEATTLE, a bank created by federal law,

Appellant,

v.

RBS SECURITIES INC., f/k/a GREENWICH CAPITAL MARKETS, INC., a Delaware corporation; GREENWICH CAPITAL ACCEPTANCE, INC., a Delaware corporation; and RBS HOLDINGS USA, INC., f/k/a GREENWICH CAPITAL HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware corporation,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Matthew A. Carvalho, WSBA #31201 Diana S. Breaux, WSBA #46112 YARMUTH WILSDON PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 516-3800

INTRODUCTION

Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle (Seattle Bank) sued RBS

Securities Inc., an investment bank, under the Washington State Securities

Act (WSSA) for making untrue or misleading statements of material fact in

connection with its sale to Seattle Bank of four residential mortgage-backed

securities (RMBS) for hundreds of millions of dollars. RBS made those

untrue or misleading statements in offering documents that it was required

to deliver to Seattle Bank and to file with the Securities and Exchange

Commission before it completed the sale of the RMBS to Seattle Bank. But

for one of the RMBS, RBS did so the day after it delivered the RMBS to

Seattle Bank and Seattle Bank paid for it. RBS had made nearly identical

statements in its SEC filings for at least 23 similar transactions.

Division One of the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment dismissing Seattle Bank's complaint because, in its view, the WSSA requires a plaintiff to prove that it relied on the untrue or misleading statements in deciding to buy the security that the defendant sold. Division One concluded that Seattle Bank could not have relied on the statements in the prospectus supplement because it received that document after it purchased the RMBS involved here. The upshot of this decision is that a seller of securities can escape its liability for making untrue or misleading

statements by the simple expedient of filing its offering documents with the SEC late.

Division One relied on its recent decision of the identical issue in Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Barclays Capital Inc. ¹ and Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC. ² This Court has granted review of those two decisions. It should grant review of this one for the same reasons.

IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

The petitioner is Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle. In May 2015, it merged into the Federal Home Loan Bank of Des Moines, but the caption of this action was not amended.

DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

On May 21, 2018, the Court of Appeals, Division One, issued a published decision affirming the trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissing Seattle Bank's complaint in its entirety. *Fed. Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. RBS Secs. Inc.*, No. 76326-1-I.

¹ 1 Wn. App. 551, 406 P.3d 686 (2017), review granted, 190 Wn.2d 1018 (2018).

² No. 75779-2-I (Wn. App. Dec. 11, 2017) (unpublished), *review granted*, No. 95420-8 (Wn. May 3, 2018) (consolidated with No. 75913-2-I).

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether, in an action under the WSSA, RCW 21.20.010(2),³ the plaintiff must prove not only that the defendant made an untrue or misleading statement of a material fact in connection with its sale of a security to the plaintiff, but also that the plaintiff relied on the untrue or misleading statement in deciding to buy the security.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Creating And Selling Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities.

This is one of hundreds of actions by investors in RMBS against the investment banks that created and sold trillions of dollars of such securities from 2004 to 2008. RMBS are not backed by the promise of an entity such as a corporation to pay principal and interest to their holders. Rather, they are backed only by payments that borrowers make on discrete groups of mortgage loans. CP 6724. If those borrowers fall behind in their mortgage payments, and if those payments are not enough to make the promised payments to investors in an RMBS, then the investors will suffer losses because no entity is required to make good the shortfall. *Id.* Sellers of RMBS make detailed statements in their offering documents about the credit

quality of the specific mortgage loans that back the securities. CP 6732.

These statements are material to investors in RMBS because payments on those mortgage loans are the sole source of payments to investors. CP 6752–6762.

The process of creating and selling an RMBS takes several weeks. The investment bank that is creating the RMBS chooses the mortgage loans that are to back the RMBS and devises various technical aspects of the RMBS, such as the relative rights of different RMBS that are being sold in the same transaction. CP 6732. The investment bank then solicits investors like Seattle Bank to purchase the forthcoming RMBS. *Id.* The investment bank sends potential investors various preliminary offering documents, such as term sheets, which give details of the specific mortgage loans that will back the RMBS (such as, for example, the rates and terms of the loans, the amount of equity that the borrowers have in their homes, etc.). CP 6732, 6740–6744, 6752–6767. Based on the information in these preliminary offering documents, an investor makes a preliminary decision whether to purchase the offered RMBS.

³ RCW 21.20.010(2) makes it "unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any security, directly or indirectly: . . . To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading."

While this process is taking place, the investment bank completes the final offering document for the RMBS, the prospectus supplement that it will deliver to investors and file with the SEC. CP 6732–6733; 8091–8094. The content of prospectus supplements for RMBS is closely prescribed by the SEC.⁴ Under federal law, before it can sell an RMBS, an investment bank must both deliver the prospectus supplement to potential investors and also file it with the SEC so it is available to the investing public at large.⁵ Both may be done by uploading the prospectus supplement to the SEC's website.

Seattle Bank paid RBS \$200,000,000 on June 26, 2006, for the RMBS involved here.

B. The Untrue Or Misleading Statements That RBS Made To Seattle Bank; Seattle Bank's Action Against RBS Under The WSSA.

Seattle Bank alleged that RBS made untrue or misleading statements about the underwriting of the mortgage loans that backed the RMBS and the amount of equity that borrowers had in their homes. In its prospectus supplements, RBS stated that the loans were made in accordance with

⁴ SEC Regulation AB, 17 C.F.R. § 229.1100 et seq.

⁵ Section 5(b)(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77e(b)(2), makes it "unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly-... to carry or cause to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce any such security for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale, unless accompanied or preceded by a prospectus that meets the requirements of subsection (a) of section 10" of that Act.

specified underwriting criteria. CP 6855, 6894–6900. Such statements are material to investors like Seattle Bank because the credit quality of mortgage loans – and therefore the safety of an RMBS that they back – depends on whether the lenders followed their own guidelines in making the loans.

The amount of equity that borrowers have in their homes is measured by the loan-to-value ratio – that is, the ratio of the amounts of the mortgage loans to the values of the properties that secured those loans. An appraisal of the mortgaged property often provides the denominator in the loan-to-value ratio. In its prospectus supplements, RBS stated that the appraisals of the mortgaged properties were made in compliance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice, the national standards of the appraisal profession. CP 6740–6744. Such statements are material to investors in RMBS because loan-to-value ratios are a critical factor in the credit quality of mortgage loans, and compliance with professional appraisal standards helps ensure that the ratios are accurate.

Seattle Bank's complaint alleged that the statements described above were untrue or misleading because many of the mortgage loans were not

⁶ When a mortgage loan is used to purchase a house, the appraisal provides the denominator if the appraised value is lower than the purchase price of the house. When a mortgage loan is used to refinance an earlier mortgage loan, the appraisal always provides the denominator because there is no purchase price.

made in accordance with the stated underwriting guidelines and many of the appraisals were not made in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.

C. RBS's Failure To Deliver And File The Prospectus Supplement On Time.

RBS made nearly identical statements – that the mortgage loans were made in accordance with stated underwriting guidelines and that the appraisals were made in accordance with the Uniform Standards – in the prospectus supplements that RBS filed with the SEC in 23 similar transactions that preceded its sale of the RMBS to Seattle Bank in June 2006 CP 8164–8172.

Although RBS was required to file the prospectus supplements with the SEC before it sold the RMBS to Seattle Bank, it did not do so. RBS filed the prospectus supplement the day after it delivered the RMBS and Seattle Bank paid for it. CP 7709–7717.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court Has Never Directly Considered Whether The WSSA Requires Proof Of Reliance, And Should Clarify That A Single Sentence In The Court's *Hines* Decision Did Not Create Such A Requirement.

This Court has never directly considered whether the WSSA requires proof of reliance. Division One first interjected a reasonable reliance requirement into the WSSA in two nearly simultaneous decisions in 2004,

Guarino v. Interactive Objects, Inc., 122 Wn. App. 95, 86 P.3d 1175 (2004), and Stewart v. Estate of Steiner, 122 Wn. App. 258, 93 P.3d 919 (2004). In both, it did so with nothing more than a citation to the italicized phrase in the following sentence of this Court's decision in Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 127, 134, 787 P.2d 8, 15 (1990):

The [defendants] argue that before they can be liable under RCW 21.20.010, the investors must establish that defendants' misrepresentations were the proximate reason for their investments' decline in value. We disagree. *The investors need only show* that the misrepresentations were material and *that they relied on the misrepresentations in connection with the sale of the securities.*

Guarino, 122 Wn. App. at 109, 86 P.3d at 1182; Stewart, 122 Wn. App. at 260 & n.1, 264 & n.7, 93 P.3d at 920 & n.1, 922 & n.7. In two more decisions, Division One either simply assumed that proof of reasonable reliance was required (Helenius v. Chelius, 131 Wn. App. 421, 120 P.3d 954 (2005)), or again said so with just a citation to Hines and its own decision in Stewart (FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 840, 868 & n.67, 309 P.3d 555, 569 & n.67 (2013), aff'd, 180 Wn.2d 954, 331 P.3d 29 (2014)). And finally, in this case as well as two other cases decided in recent months (of which this Court has granted review), 7 Division One again imposed a reliance requirement based on this

⁷ Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Barclays Capital Inc., 1 Wn. App. 551, 406 P.3d 686 (2017), review granted, No. 95436-4 (Wash. May 3, 2018); Federal

misapplication of *Hines*. Division One's creation of a reasonable reliance requirement under the WSSA was error for two reasons.

First, the issue of reliance was not before this Court in *Hines*, so its observation about reliance was dictum. *Hines* did not involve a question of reliance, and the quoted passage appeared in a section of the Court's opinion about the elements of loss and loss causation. 114 Wn.2d at 134-35, 787 P.2d at 12-13. The investor plaintiffs assumed that they had to prove transaction causation, which is the same as reliance. In their brief, they wrote that "at the very most, Investors here will have to demonstrate at trial a causal nexus not between [the CEO's] aneurysms [which were not disclosed in the offering documents] and [the company]'s demise, but between Respondent's failure to disclose material facts and Investors' decision to purchase the stock." (Emphasis in original.) What the investor plaintiffs disputed was whether they also had to prove that the untrue or

Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Sec. (USA) LLC, No. 75779-2-I (Wn. App. Dec. 11, 2017) (unpublished), review granted, No. 95420-8 (Wn. May 3, 2018) (consolidated with No. 75913-2-I).

⁸ Brief of Appellants in *Hines* at 62, attached as Appendix II to Credit Suisse's brief to Division One (emphasis in original). The investors said so again in their reply brief. "Investors contend that they need only show 'transaction causation,' i.e., that the omission was a substantial contributive factor in their decision to purchase the stock." Reply Brief of Appellants in *Hines* at 18, attached as Appendix I to Credit Suisse's brief to Division One.

misleading statements were the cause of their loss. This Court, of course, decided that they did not. In its interpretation of *Hines*, the Court of Appeals disregarded the principle that "general expressions in every opinion are to be confined to the facts then before the court and are to be limited in their relation to the case then decided and to the points actually involved." *Waremart, Inc. v. Progressive Campaigns, Inc.*, 139 Wn.2d 623, 647, 989 P.2d 524, 536 (1999) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Second, by the time Division One decided *Guarino* and *Stewart* in 2004, this Court had decided six cases under the WSSA, all in lengthy opinions and all in favor of the investor-plaintiffs. ¹⁰ All of these cases expanded protection for investors under the WSSA, consistent with the statute's "unique" purpose and "special emphasis . . . on protecting investors[.]" (*See also* Section III *infra*.) It is implausible that this Court intended to make a major decision under the WSSA – let alone one that narrowed the protection of investors – in one sentence. This Court, like

_

⁹ They wrote in their assignments of error: "Causation: . . . Must an injured investor prove that the specific fact or facts omitted from the offering materials directly caused the security to become worthless?" Brief of Appellants in *Hines* at 4.

^{Cellular Eng'g, v. O'Neill, 118 Wn.2d 16, 820 P.2d 941 (1991); Hoffer v. State, 113 Wn.2d 148, 776 P.2d 963 (1989); Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 755 P.2d 781 (1988); Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987); Kittilson v. Ford, 93 Wn.2d 223, 608 P.2d 264 (1980); Clausing v. DeHart, 83 Wn.2d 70, 515 P.2d 982 (1973).}

¹¹ FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 180 Wn.2d 954, 970-71, 331 P.3d 29, 45-46 (2014).

Congress, "does not . . . hide elephants in mouseholes." Whitman v. Am.

Trucking Ass'ns, 531 U.S. 457, 468, 121 S. Ct. 903, 149 L.Ed.2d 1 (2001).

II. The Decision Of Division One Conflicts With This Court's Settled Doctrine That Section (2) Of The WSSA Is A Strict-Liability Statute.

In its four decisions prior to *Barclays* and *Credit Suisse*, Division

One misconstrued the one sentence in *Hines*. The reasoning in *Barclays* and *Credit Suisse*, on which Division One relied in the present decision,

conflicts with this Court's jurisprudence under the WSSA: that section (2) of
the WSSA is a strict-liability statute, not simply a statutory version of a

common-law action for fraud.

A. The Statutory Background.

When the Legislature enacted the WSSA in 1959, there were (and still are) two federal laws against making an untrue or misleading statement of material fact in connection with the sale of a security. The first was section 12(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 771(2) (since renumbered 12(a)(2) but referred to here by its original number). It states:

Any person who . . . offers or sells a security . . . by means of . . . an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading . . . shall be liable . . . to the person purchasing such security from him, who may sue either at law or in equity in any court of competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon, less than the amount of any

income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages if he no longer owns the security.

(Emphasis added.) As countless courts agree, Section 12(2) creates a strict liability cause of action. Actions under it require no proof of scienter, reliance, loss, or loss causation, all elements of common-law fraud. As Division One acknowledged, "[i]t is undisputed that Section 12(2) of the 1933 Act created a strict liability cause of action." *Barclays*, 406 P.3d at 693.

The second federal law in effect in 1959 was the combination of section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5, which the SEC promulgated in 1942 by authority of section 10(b). Section 10(b) states that:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, ... [t]o use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security ... any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of [SEC] rules.

Following the language of section 12(2) exactly, Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful to "make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading."

When the Legislature enacted the WSSA in 1959, it also followed the language of section 12(2) (and Rule 10b-5) exactly:

It is unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer, sale or purchase of any security, directly or indirectly: . . .

(2) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading.

RCW 21.20.010(2). (The full texts of all the provisions discussed here are set forth in the Appendix.)

B. The Reasoning Of Division One Is Flawed.

Even though Division One agreed that "Section 12(2) of the 1933

Act created a strict liability cause of action," *Barclays*, 406 P.3d at 693, and even though this Court has held that the WSSA was modeled on section 12(2), 12 still Division One rejected the contention "that the legislature intended WSSA actions to be strict liability actions." *Id.* According to Division One, all that the Legislature took from section 12(2) was its private right of action. The "liability provisions" of the WSSA, on the other hand, the Legislature took from Rule 10b-5. *Id.*

Division One reasoned to this conclusion in six steps. *First*, the language of RCW 21.20.010 is the same as the language of Rule 10b-5. *Barclays*, 406 P.3d at 690. *Second*, the words "reasonable reliance" do not appear in Rule 10b-5 or in RCW 21.20.010. *Id. Third*, the United States

Supreme Court has long required proof of reliance in actions under Rule

¹² See Hoffer v. State, 113 Wn.2d 148, 151-52, 776 P.2d 963, 964-65 (1989); Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 125, 744 P.2d 1032, 1048-1049 (1987).

10b-5, starting with its decision in *Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder*, 425 U.S. 185, 96 S. Ct. 1375, 47 L.Ed.2d 668 (1976). *Id.* at 690 n.17. *Fourth*, when a court interprets a statute, "that interpretation controls what the statute has always meant." *Id.* at 690. *Fifth*, "[t]hus, Rule 10b-5 has always [since the SEC promulgated it in 1942] required a showing of reasonable reliance, and did so when this state's legislature drew upon it [in 1959] to craft RCW 21.20.010(2)." *Id.* Therefore, *sixth*, "we conclude that the state legislature enacted RCW 21.20.010(2) with the intent that it be construed in the same way as Rule 10b-5 and have the same interpretation as federal case law of that rule. In short, reasonable reliance is a necessary element of this state claim." *Id.*

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