# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/20/2018 3:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95991-9

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK OF SEATTLE, a bank created by federal law,

Petitioner,

v.

RBS SECURITIES INC., f/k/a GREENWICH CAPITAL MARKETS, INC., a Delaware corporation; GREENWICH CAPITAL ACCEPTANCE, INC., a Delaware corporation; and RBS HOLDINGS USA, INC., f/k/a GREENWICH CAPITAL HOLDINGS, INC., a Delaware corporation,

### Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, PS SIMPSON THACHER &

BARTLETT LLP
By: Howard M. Goodfriend

WSBA # 14355 By: Alan C. Turner (pro hac vice)

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

### III. Argument Why Review Should Ultimately Be Denied

A. This Court long ago held that a WSSA plaintiff must prove reliance. The Court of Appeals correctly held that this result was not "dictum."

Twenty-eight years ago, this Court held that to prove a WSSA misstatement claim, a plaintiff must demonstrate that it "relied on the misrepresentations in connection with the sale of the securities." *Hines*, 114 Wn.2d at 134. That holding, which Washington courts have consistently followed,<sup>8</sup> and which the Court of Appeals followed in *Credit Suisse* and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Seattle Bank has abandoned its prior contention that it relied on an expectation that the prospectus supplement would mirror preliminary marketing materials. Failure to raise these issues has resulted in their waiver. RAP 13.7(b). See Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. James, 101 Wn.2d 220, 225 n.2, 676 P.2d 470 (1984) (failure to raise issue in petition for review results in its waiver).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See, e.g., Stewart v. Estate of Steiner, 122 Wn. App. 258, 260, 264, 93 P.3d 919 (2004), rev. denied, 153 Wn.2d 1022 (2005); Guarino v. Interactive Objects, Inc., 122 Wn. App. 95, 109, 86 P.3d 1175 (2004), rev. denied, 153 Wn.2d 1024 (2005); FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt. Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 175 Wn. App. 840, 867-68, ¶ 53, 309 P.3d 555 (2013), aff'd 180 Wn.2d 954, 331 P.3d 29 (2014).

Barclays (as well as in this action), is unambiguous and controlling. Seattle Bank does not argue that *Hines* was wrongly decided, and offers no reason why this Court should depart from the principles of *stare decisis* and overrule *Hines*. *Chelan Basin Conservancy v. GBI Holding Co.*, 190 Wn.2d 249, 277, ¶ 51, 413 P.3d 549 (2018) (petitioner must show "that an established rule is incorrect and harmful before it is abandoned").

Instead, Seattle Bank argues that the Court of Appeals erred in treating *Hines* as binding precedent because "the issue of reliance was not before this Court." Pet. 9-10. That is wrong. In *Hines*, this Court resolved two separate appeals—one by plaintiffs, appealing the affirmance of summary judgment dismissing WSSA claims against certain defendants, and one by other defendants, appealing a judgment finding them liable for WSSA violations. 114 Wn.2d at 130-31. As stated in their appellate briefs and petitions, the *Hines* parties asked this Court not only to determine "the level of causation" needed to sustain a WSSA misstatement claim, but also to provide "guidance" on the interpretation of the statute generally because "substantial portions . . . remain in doubt." And contrary to Seattle Bank's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Reply Brief for Appellants at 18, *Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) (No. 20506-4-I); Brief for Appellants at 58-65, *Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) 20506-4-I); Brief for Respondents at 31-34, *Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) (No. 20506-4-I).

suggestion that the scope of the Court's review was narrow, the *Hines* parties asked this Court to "clearly delineate" the elements of a WSSA misstatement claim "so that citizens (and the lower courts) can act with confidence and predict the consequences of their actions."<sup>10</sup>

This Court did just that in resolving *Hines*, finding that the WSSA was intended to protect investors who have been "wrongfully induced" to buy securities; holding that reliance was therefore a required element of a WSSA misstatement claim; and affirming, on the facts, the judgment entered against the defendants based in part on the record "that each investor relied on statements in the selling materials." 114 Wn.2d at 134. Those statements were far from *dictum*, contrary to Seattle Bank's contention, but were "necessary to [the court's] ultimate holding" that defendants were liable under the WSSA for their alleged misstatements. *City of Bellevue v. Acrey*, 103 Wn.2d 203, 209, 691 P.2d 957 (1984). The Court of Appeals thus did not err in concluding that *Hines* was binding precedent.

Seattle Bank's related contention that it is "implausible" that the *Hines* Court could have intended to create binding precedent on the issue of reliance because this Court had in *other* cases previously interpreted the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Reply of Petitioners to Respondents' Answers To Petition For Review at 1-2, Hines v. Data Line Sys., Inc., 114 Wn.2d 127, 787 P.2d 8 (1990) (Nos. 20506-4-I, 20519-6-I).

WSSA to "protect investors," Pet. 10 (citing cases), is baseless. Only one of those decisions—*Kittilson v. Ford*—even remotely relates to the issue of reliance *at all*, 11 and that decision undermines rather than supports Seattle Bank's position here. There, the Court, in addressing whether a WSSA plaintiff must plead and prove that the security seller acted with intent to defraud, held that "the interpretation" of the WSSA's liability-creating provision, RCW 21.20.010, "first announced in *Shermer* is the better rule." *Kittilson v. Ford*, 93 Wn.2d 223, 227, 608 P.2d 264 (1980). The "better rule" in *Shermer* that *Kittilson* adopted was that "[i]n an action brought under RCW 21.20.010, a plaintiff need neither plead nor prove that the defendant intended to deceive him by the misrepresentation or omission. *It is sufficient that the plaintiff relied upon the misrepresentation or omission of a material fact." Shermer*, 2 Wn. App. at 857-58 (emphasis added). In short, this Court's other WSSA decisions do not call into question *Hines* or suggest, as Seattle Bank contends, that this Court did not actually mean

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The five other decisions Seattle Bank cites relate to wholly inapposite issues, including the definition of "sale" under the WSSA, see Cellular Eng'g, Ltd. v. O'Neill, 118 Wn.2d 16, 820 P.2d 941 (1991); the definition of "seller" under the WSSA, see Hoffer v. State, 113 Wn.2d 148, 776 P.2d 963 (1989); Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 755 P.2d 781 (1988), on reconsideration in part 113 Wn.2d 148 (1989); and Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987), amended 109 Wn.2d 107 (1988); and whether the WSSA applies to off-market transactions, see Clausing v. DeHart, 83 Wn.2d 70, 515 P.2d 982 (1973).

what it said that to succeed on a WSSA claim a plaintiff must demonstrate that it relied on the alleged misstatement.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded, separate from *Hines*, that the WSSA is not a strict liability statute.

Seattle Bank is also wrong that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with "settled doctrine" from this Court that the WSSA is a "strict-liability statute." Pet. 11. As discussed above, it is "settled doctrine" in this state that a WSSA plaintiff must prove reliance, as nearly 50 years of unbroken authority from this Court and the courts of appeals attests. But even if *Hines* were not controlling (it is), the Court of Appeals correctly held in *Barclays* (and adopted in this action) that the WSSA's text, structure and history independently demonstrated that the legislature "intended reasonable reliance to be an essential element" of a WSSA misstatement claim. 1 Wn. App. 2d at 565 ¶ 49. Seattle Bank's attempts to find error with the Court of Appeals' analysis are misguided and based on a flawed understanding of the statute as well as this Court's WSSA jurisprudence.

1. The text and structure of the WSSA's liability-creating section mirror SEC Rule 10b-5, which courts have long held requires proof of reliance. The WSSA's history similarly reflects the legislature's intent to avoid strict liability.

The WSSA's civil liability section, RCW 21.20.430, confers on securities purchasers a private right of action against sellers who violate the WSSA's liability-creating section, RCW 21.20.010. RCW 21.20.430(1)

("Any person who offers or sells a security in violation of any provision of RCW 21.20.010 . . . is liable to the person buying the security from him or her[.]"). The legislature adopted RCW 21.20.010 from Section 101 of the Uniform State Securities Act of 1956 ("USSA"), see, e.g., In re Metro. Sec. Litig., 2009 WL 36776, at \*3 (E.D. Wash. Jan. 6, 2009), which itself was adopted from SEC Rule 10b-5. See Uniform Securities Act of 1956, Section 101, Official Code Comment ("This section is substantially the [SEC's] Rule X-10B-5[.]"). As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized in Barclays (and adopted in its decision below), 1 Wn. App. 2d at 558-59 ¶¶ 22-23, RCW 21.20.010 mirrors SEC Rule 10b-5 in all material respects, including in proscribing the same three types of conduct that Rule 10b-5 does—including, as relevant here, the making of a material misstatement under subpart 2—and in using nearly identical language to do so. This Court too has recognized that RCW 21.20.010 "is patterned after and restates in substantial part" SEC Rule 10b-5. Clausing, 83 Wn.2d at 72.

There is also no dispute that to establish a claim under SEC Rule 10b-5(2) for alleged material misstatements in connection with the sale of a security, an investor-plaintiff must prove that it relied on those misstatements. Lower federal courts had uniformly reached that conclusion prior to our legislature adopting the WSSA, see, e.g., Reed v. Riddle Airlines, 266 F.2d 314, 319 (5th Cir. 1959); Speed v. Transamerica Corp.,

5 F.R.D. 56, 60 (D. Del. 1945), and the U.S. Supreme Court confirmed that understanding in 1976, see Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185 (1976), a year before our legislature first enacted the version of RCW 21.20.430 that, like the current version, made violations of RCW 21.20.010 the predicate offense giving rise to civil liability. 12 Given (i) this text, structure and history, (ii) this Court's statement about the similarity between RCW 21.20.010 and SEC Rule 10b-5, (iii) the language of RCW 21.20.900 that courts should "coordinate the interpretation" of the WSSA with its SEC counterpart; (iv) the fact that our legislature presumptively "enacts legislation in light of existing law," AllianceOne Receivables Mgmt., Inc. v. Lewis, 180 Wn.2d 389, 396, ¶ 11, 325 P.3d 904 (2014), and amended the WSSA many times after courts first began interpreting it as requiring a showing of reliance without modifying the language of the statute; 13 and (v) this Court's admonishment that "Washington courts will not construe a statute to impose strict liability absent a clear indication that the Legislature intended to do so," Wright v. Engum, 124 Wn.2d 343, 349, 878 P.2d 1198 (1994), the Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See Laws of 1977, Ex. Sess., ch. 172, § 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Laws of 1998, ch. 15, § 20; Laws of 1986, ch. 304, § 1; Laws of 1985, ch. 171, § 1; Laws of 1981, ch. 272, § 9; Laws of 1979, Ex. Sess., ch. 68, § 30; Laws of 1977, Ex. Sess., ch. 172, § 4; Laws of 1975, 1st Ex. Sess., ch. 84, § 24; Laws of 1974, Ex. Sess., ch. 77, § 11.

of Appeals in *Barclays* (and here), correctly held that the WSSA is not a strict liability statute. *Barclays*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 559-61, ¶¶ 23-32.

Seattle Bank labels as absurd two straw man conclusions it purports to derive from the Court of Appeals decision: (i) that the legislature in 1959 knew that the Supreme Court would eventually interpret SEC Rule 10b-5 as containing a reliance requirement, or (ii) that the legislature "intended that RCW 21.20.010 would . . . mean whatever the federal courts thought that Rule 10b-5 meant." Pet. 14. But Seattle Bank's own logic is seriously flawed. The lower federal courts had consistently construed SEC Rule 10b-5 as requiring a showing of reliance prior to the WSSA's enactment persuasive authority that our legislature was presumptively aware of and intended to follow by enacting a statute that was modeled directly upon SEC Rule 10b-5, as the *Barclays* court concluded. 1 Wn. App. 2d at 560, ¶ 27. The Supreme Court in Ernst only later confirmed that widespread understanding. Further, there is nothing "absurd" about the legislature desiring that RCW 21,20,010 be construed consistently with its federal counterpart—to the contrary, the legislature wrote that requirement directly into the statute. See RCW 21.20.900.

Seattle Bank's separate argument, Pet. 11-13, that RCW 21.20.010(2) should be interpreted consistently with Section 12 of the federal Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 771—which also prohibits the

making of a material misstatement in connection with security sales, but which does not require a showing of scienter, loss causation or reliance—is similarly misguided. Had the legislature intended to create a strict liability regime, it easily could have drafted the civil liability section of RCW 21.20.430 so that it did not cross-reference RCW 21.20.010 but instead mirrored Section 12, much like USSA Section 430<sup>15</sup> and the securities laws of other states do. But it did not, and the fact that RCW 21.20.010(2), RCW 21.20.430 and Section 12 bear similarities because they generally proscribe the same conduct, or offer the same remedy of rescission, does not sufficiently evince any intent on the part of the legislature to create a strict liability regime given the statute's text and structure, as the Court of Appeals rightly recognized. *Barclays*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 563-64, ¶¶ 42-44.

Moreover, Seattle Bank's argument cannot be reconciled with the legislative history of RCW 21.20.430. When that section was first adopted by the legislature in 1959, it prohibited sellers from engaging in "fraud or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Seattle Bank essentially contends that in adopting SEC Rule 10b-5 into the WSSA through RCW 21.20.010 and making it a predicate violation giving rise to civil liability, the legislature intended to import jurisprudence *from an entirely different federal statute*—or, at least, intended to have that jurisprudence apply to subpart 2 of RCW 21.20.010. WSSA's text, structure and history refute that argument.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Uniform Securities Act of 1956, Section 430.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See, e.g., Va. Code § 13.1-522(A); Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 110A, § 410.

misrepresentation." Laws of 1959, ch. 282 § 43. At that time, it was well-settled that such claims required a showing of reliance. The statute as initially enacted also did not cross-reference RCW 21.20.010 or make its violation a predicate offense giving rise to civil liability, and it was an open question among the Washington lower courts whether a private cause of action could be brought directly under that provision. The legislature resolved that issue by amending RCW 21.20.430 in 1977 to make violations of RCW 21.20.010—the Washington counterpart to SEC Rule 10b-5 which, by that time, the Supreme Court in *Ernst* had construed to contain a reliance requirement—a predicate offense in lieu of "fraud or misrepresentation." Laws of 1977, Ex. Sess., ch. 172 § 4; *see also Wade*, 915 F.2d at 1329-32. As this history reflects, the legislature never intended RCW 21.20.430 to create a strict liability regime, and Seattle Bank's efforts to graft Section 12 jurisprudence onto that section would completely undermine that intent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See, e.g., Andrews v. Standard Lumber Co., 2 Wn.2d 294, 300, 97 P.2d 1062 (1940) (fraud elements); Bryant v. Vern Cole Realty Co., 39 Wn.2d 571, 574-75, 237 P.2d 487 (1951) (negligent misrepresentation elements).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Compare Shermer, 2 Wn. App. at 849-50 (private cause of action for aggrieved sellers) with Ludwig v. Mut. Real Estate Investors, 18 Wn. App. 33, 44, 567 P.2d 658 (1977) (no private cause of action for buyers harmed by material omissions), abrogated by statute as recognized in Kittilson, 93 Wn.2d at 225. See also Wade v. Skipper's Inc., 915 F.2d 1324, 1329-32 (9th Cir. 1990) (discussing split in authority).

## 2. This Court's WSSA jurisprudence does not support Seattle Bank's contention that the WSSA is a strict liability statute.

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